NO. 44061-0-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION TWO

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LEE McCLURE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Elaine L. Winters Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The expert's opinion that children are usually abused by close family members was an opinion on Lee McClure's guilt that violated his constitutional right to a jury determination of the facts of the case.

The prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument denied Mr.
 McClure the fair trial he was guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.

The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
 McClure knowingly possessed depictions of minors involved in sexually explicit conduct.

4. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. McClure had one prior conviction for rape of a child in the first degree violated his federal constitutional right to due process and a jury determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. McClure had one prior conviction for rape of a child in the first degree violated his state constitutional rights to due process and a jury determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

6. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. McClure had one prior conviction violated his right to equal protection of the law.

7. The order prohibiting Mr. McClure from contact with any minors for the rest of his life violated his fundamental constitutional right to a relationship with his minor son.

### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The accused has the constitutional right to a jury determination of guilt or innocence. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art I, §§ 21, 22. Mr. McClure and his step-daughter were part of a close family, and he was accused of having sexual intercourse with her and photographing her. In explaining that children often delay reporting sexual abuse, the medical director of a hospital's child abuse department testified that close family members are usually the perpetrators of child sexual abuse. There was little evidence to corroborate the step-daughter's testimony and the jury verdict was based upon its evaluation of witness credibility. Must Mr. McClure's convictions for rape of a child in the second and third degree be reversed because the expert's opinion invited the jury to convict Mr. McClure because he fit the "profile" of a child abuser?

2. The defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial, and a prosecutor's improper arguments may violate that right. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The prosecutor committed misconduct by commenting on Mr. McClure's right to a trial and to confront the witnesses against him and by misrepresenting the expert witness's testimony, all in attempt to bolster the complaining witness's credibility. Must Mr. McClure's convictions be reversed where the prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could not be cured by timely objections and curative instructions?

3. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. Mr. McClure was convicted of possession of depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, which require proof the defendant knew he possessed the depictions and knew their nature. The small file of thumbnail images found in the McClure family computer looked like a black piece of paper. It may have been created by a program without the user's knowledge, the normal computer user would not be aware the file was there, and the computer crimes detective could not state for certain when the file was created. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, must Mr.

McClure's conviction for knowing possession of depictions be dismissed in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he knew the images were on the computer?

4. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and a Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact that authorizes an increase in punishment. Did the sentencing court violate Mr. McClure's constitutional rights by imposing a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on the court's own finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. McClure had a prior conviction for rape of a child in the first degree?

5. The Washington constitutions provides the right to due process of law, the right to a jury trial, and the right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact that necessary to impose punishment. Const. art. I §§ 3, 21, 22. Did the sentencing court violate Mr. McClure's constitutional rights by imposing a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on the court's own finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. McClure had a prior conviction for rape of a child in the first degree?

6. A statute implicating a fundamental liberty interest violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if it creates classifications that are not necessary to further a compelling government interest. The government has an interest in punishing repeat offenders

more harshly than first-time offenders, but for some crimes, the existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and for others – like those at issue in persistent offender sentencings – the existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence need only be proved to a judge by a preponderance of the evidence. Do the persistent offender provisions of the Sentencing Reform Act violate the Equal Protection Clause by providing lesser procedural protections than other statutes whose purpose is the same?

7. A parent has a fundamental liberty interest in a relationship with his child, and the government may not interfere with that relationship absent a compelling reason. U.S. Const. amends. I, XIV; Const. art. 1 § 3. Mr. McClure was convicted of sexually assaulting his teenage stepdaughter, and he had a prior conviction for raping a girl under the age of twelve. Did the court order prohibiting Mr. McClure from having any contact with minors for the rest of his life unconstitutionally interfere with his right to a relationship with his minor son?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lee McClure and his wife Norma Jean married in September 2005. 3RP 251-52; 8RP 826. The couple lived in Sumner with Mrs. McClure's four children: Elizabeth, Joseph, RH and Adam. 3RP 252. The two older children moved out in 2006 and 2007, and Mr. and Mrs. McClure's son

Aaron Michael, was born in July 2008. 3RP 252, 266; 4RP 320, 322; 8RP 831. Thus, from July 2008 to 2011, the family living in the Sumner home included Mr. McClure, Mrs. McClure, her daughter RH (dob 3/11/95), RH's younger brother Adam H, and Aaron Michael McClure. 4RP 367.

The family was close and enjoyed family night, church activities, and camping. 4RP 338-39, 353-54; 5RP 481; 8RP 849-50, 867. RH and Adam were responsible for their school work and a few household chores, and they were occasionally disciplined by loss of video games, afterschool activities, or library books if they did not fulfill these responsibilities. 5RP 455-57, 474; 8RP 845-46. Although Mr. and Mrs. McClure enforced the rules, Mr. McClure was more authoritarian. 4RP 324-25; 5RP 474; 8RP 845.

Mrs. McClure worked full-time except when she was on maternity leave after the birth of Aaron Michael. 8RP 876. Mr. McClure was laid off from his job at a foundry, Tools with Finesse, at the end of 2008, and he stayed home to care for Aaron Michael until he obtained new employment in September 2010. 4RP 349-50; 8RP 841-43.

RH and Adam visited their father and his wife two weekends every month and on alternating holidays. 3RP 253-54; 6RP 614. RH believed that she could choose which parent she wanted to live with when she turned 16. 4RP 463; 5RP 550. When RH and Adam went to stay with

their father on the weekend of RH's 16<sup>th</sup> birthday, she announced that she was moving in with her father and step-mother. 4RP 374; 6RP 615-16. Mr. H explained he would need to talk to his lawyer first and make arrangements to change the parenting plan, but RH said she would not return to her mother's house. 5RP 551; 6RP 616-17. Her father and step-mother questioned RH, and she told them she did not want to return because she had committed adultery against her mother. 5RP 552; 6RP 617. When he understood that RH meant sexual contact with Mr. McClure, Mr. H. called the police. 6RP 618, 619-20.

The Pierce County Prosecutor charged Mr. McClure with rape of a child in the second degree, rape of a child in the third degree, sexual exploitation of a minor, and possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 48-49.

At trial, 17-year-old RH testified that Mr. McClure had sexual intercourse with her over several years, probably beginning when she was 12 years old. 4RP 367, 377-78, 387, 523-24. In response to leading questions, RH related that her stepfather penetrated her vaginally, anally and orally with his penis, fingers, and sex toys. 4RP 379-85, 392-93, 417-20. She said this usually occurred in the bedroom occupied by Mr. McClure and her mother, but also happened in her bedroom and

occasionally in other parts of the house and in the family's trailer. 2RP 416-17, 421-23. 437.

At trial RH testified she thought the abuse began when she was 12 or 13, but when she reported the abuse to her family and the police on her 16<sup>th</sup> birthday, RH indicated it had been occurring only over the past year. 8RP 772. She told the physician who later examined her that the abuse had been occurring for two to three years. 8RP 797. At trial RH estimated she had sexual contact with Mr. McClure about once a month, but she said it happened at least five times when she told father and stepmother and include that amount in a written statement she prepared that night. 5RP 467, 500-01, 503-04, 506-07.

RH was only able to describe one specific incident, which occurred in a car when Mr. McClure picked her up after her 9<sup>th</sup> grade graduation party. 4RP 436; 5RP 469-72. She also related that Mr. McClure took a photograph of her that showed her vagina and others that showed her breasts. 4RP 432-33.

RH was examined by the medical director of the Child Abuse Intervention Department of Mary Bridge Hospital, Yolanda Duralde, who reported RH had a normal physical examination with no evidence of trauma. 8RP 800-02, 804, 806. Over defense objection, Dr. Duralde testified that children often delay reporting sexual abuse because they are

usually abused by people who are close to them and they are afraid of what will happen to their family. CP 47; 1RP 41-42; 8RP 781-82.

Mr. McClure testified that he did not have any form of sexual contact with his step-daughter and did not take the explicit photographs. 8RP 869-70. Mr. McClure left the state after he learned of the police investigation. 3RP 241-42, 260. He explained that he panicked and left Washington because he was worried that RH had told the police about an incident during the 2010 Christmas holiday when RH ran into the living room, pushed him down on the couch, and jumped on top of him. 8RP 871-72, 874, 893-94. 896. Mr. McClure and the children often wrestled in the family room. 8RP 867-68. This time, however, McClure had been wearing pajamas and baggy shorts. 8RP 872. When RH asked Mr. McClure what was in his pocket, he realized he had an erection and left the room in embarrassment. 8RP 872-73.

Mr. McClure was arrested in Missouri and waived extradition. 6RP 648, 656. Mr. McClure's father Carl then retrieved his son's van and its contents from Missouri and gave them to Mrs. McClure. 6RP 709-10, 712, 716. A Pierce County Sheriff's Department detective obtained a search warrant for Carl McClure's home as well as the trailer on Carl McClure's property where Mrs. McClure was then living. 6RP 689, 691, 715. The detective and his colleagues seized two laptop computers, a

computer tower, a flash drive, a USB drive, and a digital camera from the trailer and three external hard drives and three flash drives from Carl McClure's house. 3RP 151; 6RP 692-93.

Computer crimes detective Michael Ames led an examination of the seized items. 3RP 136, 233-34. After spending months searching for images on the computer equipment and camera, the detective found one file that appeared to be a black sheet of paper, but contained 17 thumbnail images showing RH when she was not fully clothed.<sup>1</sup> 3RP 151-52, 165-66, 227. The detective explained that the file was not visible to the normal computer user and was created by the picture management program without the user's knowledge. 3RP 173-74, 181, 224-25. He did not find photos of RH unclothed on the camera or other pieces of computer equipment that were seized. 3RP 234.

Mr. McClure was convicted by a jury as charged. CP 82-85. At sentencing, the court found by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. McClure had a 1993 Pierce County conviction for rape of a child in the first degree and sentenced him as a persistent offender to life without the possibility of parole for Count 1, rape of a child in the second degree. CP 94-125-30. He received concurrent 60-months sentences for rape of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The computer also contained numerous images of normal family activities that were easily accessible. 3RP 166-69, 190, 215-16.

child in the third degree and possession of depictions of minors, and a 120-month sentence for sexual exploitation of a minor. CP 88-89, 94.

### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### 1. Dr. Duralde's expert testimony that sexual abuse of children is usually perpetrated by close family members was an improper opinion that Mr. McClure was guilty.

The accused has the right to a jury determination of guilt or innocence, and expert witnesses are not permitted to offer a direct or implied opinion that a criminal defendant is guilty. In the course of explaining why children often delay reporting sexual offenses, an expert witness testified that child victims of sexual abuse are usually abused by close family members. RH lived in the same home as Mr. McClure, who was her stepfather, and the prosecutor argued the jury could consider their close family relationship in deciding the case. Mr. McClure's convictions must be reversed because the expert offered an indirect opinion that he was guilty of sexually abusing RH because of their close family relationship.

a. <u>Mr. McClure moved to preclude Dr. Duralde from testifying</u> <u>about delayed reporting</u>. RH was 17 years old when she testified that she had been sexually abused at least once a month over several years. 4RP 367, 389-92; 5RP 523-24. She explained that she told her father about the abuse on the weekend of her 16<sup>th</sup> birthday because she did not want to live

in the same home with Mr. McClure. 5RP 499-91, 521-22. She testified that she did not tell anyone sooner because she was afraid of how Mr. McClure would react. 5RP 473.

Prior to trial, Mr. McClure moved to prohibit the prosecution from eliciting expert testimony about delay reporting of abuse by children from Dr. Duralde, the physician who examined RH. CP 47; 1RP 41-42, 46-47. The trial court ruled that Dr. Duralde could testify about the reasons for delayed reporting if a proper foundation was laid but could not offer an opinion as to RH's credibility. CP 40; 1RP 53-54.

In discussing delayed reporting of sexual abuse by children, however, Dr. Duralde told the jury that sexual abuse of children is usually perpetrated by family members who are close to the child. 8RP 781. According to the physician, children are naturally confused and worried about what might happen to the family if they report the sexual abuse. She opined that they therefore wait until they feel safe to report sexual abuse. 8RP 781-82. When asked on cross-examination if the age of the child affects the likelihood of delayed reported, Dr. Duralde opined that the determinative factor is not age but how close the child is to the family member. 8RP 810.

b. <u>Witnesses may not offer a direct or implied opinion that the</u> <u>defendant is guilty</u>. The right to a jury trial is "inviolate" in Washington,

and the defendant has the right to have his guilt or innocence determined by a jury. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; <u>State v. Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 813 P.3d 267 (2008). Therefore, "[n]o witness, lay or expert, may testify to his opinion as to the guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference." <u>State v. Black</u>, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987) (expert witness's opinion that the complaining witness in a third degree rape case had "rape trauma syndrome" was inadmissible because it communicated the witness's opinion that the alleged victim was telling the truth).

Expert witnesses may express opinions concerning their field of expertise if those opinions will aid the trier of fact. ER 702; <u>Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 590. While an expert may normally testify concerning an ultimate fact to be found by the jury, she may not express an opinion "as to the guilt of the defendant, intent of the accused, or the veracity of witnesses." <u>Id</u>. at 519; ER 704. In determining if an expert opinion is an inadmissible opinion on the defendant's guilt, the court must consider "(1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact." <u>Id</u>. (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting <u>State v. Demery</u>, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)).

c. <u>Dr. Duralde's testimony that close family members are usually</u> the perpetrators of sexual abuse of children was an improper opinion on <u>Mr. McClure's guilt</u>. The doctor's testimony that the perpetrator of sexual abused against a child is usually a close family member was an improper opinion on Mr. McClure's guilt. The Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Petrich</u> is instructive. <u>State v. Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d 403 (1988). Petrich was convicted of sexually abusing his granddaughter over a period of almost two years. <u>Id</u>. at 568. At trial, a sexual assault center employee testified that in "eighty-five to ninety percent of our cases, the child is molested by someone they already know." <u>Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 569.

Like Dr. Durante, the witness made this statement in the context of explaining that many child victims delay reporting their crimes. <u>Id</u>. at 576. The <u>Petrich</u> Court found the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed its probative value. Reversing the convictions on other grounds, the court ordered that, on retrial, "expert testimony should be excluded that invites the jury to conclude that because of defendant's particular relationship to the victim, he is statistically more likely to have committed the crime." <u>Id</u>.

Statutory rape convictions were reversed where an employee of a sexual assault center testified that the majority of the children she saw

were abused by "a male parent-figure," normally a biological parent. State v. Maule, 35 Wn. App. 287, 289-90, 667 P.2d 96 (1983). The defendant was charged with molesting his eight-year-old daughter and his five-year-old step daughter, both of whom were living with him. Id. at 288-89. The expert's opinion was offered while the prosecutor was establishing the witness's credentials. This Court determined it was substantive evidence showing the defendant's guilt, that it was highly prejudicial and irrelevant, and reversed the defendant's convictions. Id. at 293. Other cases similarly hold that expert testimony implying guilt based upon the characteristics of known offenders is improper. State v. Braham, 67 Wn. App. 930, 937, 841 P.2d 785 (1993) (expert provides "grooming profile" where some of defendant's behavior consistent with grooming); State v. Steward, 34 Wn. App. 221, 224, 660 P.2d 278 (1983) (expert testimony that live-in or baby-sitting boyfriends more likely to inflict serious injury on young children).

"As a general rule, profile testimony that does nothing more than identify a person as a member of a group more likely to commit the charged crime is inadmissible owing to its relative lack of probative value compared to the danger or unfair prejudice." <u>Braham</u>, 67 Wn. App. at 936.

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