NO. 44061-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

LEE RICHARD McCLURE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Linda Lee

No. 11-1-01384-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By THOMAS C. ROBERTS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

- 1. DR. DURALDE'S TESTIMONY DID NOT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO JURY DETERMINATION; NOR DID THE DEFENDANT PRESERVE ANY ERROR REGARDING IT.
 - a. <u>Dr. Duralde did not opine regarding the</u> defendant's guilt.

An expert witness may not offer testimony in the form of an

opinion regarding an ultimate fact to be determined by the jury; including the guilt or innocence of the defendant, or the veracity of the defendant or another witness. *See State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987); *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Such testimony is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant because it invades the exclusive province of the jury. *See State v. Embry*, 171 Wn. App. 714, 287 P.3d 648 (2012).

Here, Dr. Yolanda Duralde, the medical director of the Child Abuse Intervention Dept. of Mary Bridge Children's Hospital testified as an expert witness. 8 RP 778 ff. Dr. Durlade testified, without objection, about sexual abuse of children in general. 8 RP 781-783. She also testified regarding her examination of the victim. 8 RP 796-801.

Dr. Duralde testified that pediatric sexual abuse generally occurs within families or with people known or close to the victim. 8 RP 781.

Neither attorney asked, nor did Dr. Duralde testify or opine, whether the defendant was guilty. Likewise, neither attorney asked, nor did Dr. Duralde testify or opine, regarding any witness' credibility.

b. The defendant fails to demonstrate that this issue may be raised for the first time on appeal.

Defendants fail to preserve an issue for appeal when they do not

object to impermissible opinion testimony at trial. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926–927. To raise an error for the first time on appeal, a defendant must demonstrate that the error was "manifest" and truly of constitutional dimension by identifying the constitutional error and showing how the alleged error actually affected his rights at trial. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926–927.

In *State v. Embry*, 171 Wn. App.714, three co-defendants were charged with several crimes arising from a violent confrontation between members of different gangs at a Tacoma nightclub. A police detective who was a gang expert testified about the behavior and interactions of members of different gangs. *Id.*, at 739. The defendants failed to properly object. This Court held that the defendants failed to preserve the issue for appeal. *Id.*, at 741. The Court also pointed out that the jury was properly instructed, and a timely and specific objection could have cured any potential error. *Id.* The same is true in the present case.

The defendant had no objections to Dr. Duralde's testimony. To the contrary: the defense asked additional questions regarding the reasons for delayed reporting by sexual abuse victims. 8 RP 809-810. Defense counsel elicited the information that "the closer the family member [perpetrator] is, the harder it is to disclose." 8 RP 810. When the prosecutor asked if it was common for teenagers to present with false allegations of sexual abuse,

Dr. Duralde replied that she had not seen this in her experience. 8 RP 814. Defense counsel did not object; and discussed the topic further on recross-examination. 8 RP 815. The defendant sought to use Dr. Duralde's testimony for his own purpose.

Dr. Duralde's testimony was not improper, but even if it had been, the appropriate remedy was: an objection, motion to strike, and instruction for the jury to disregard it. If necessary, the defendant could have requested a more pointed or specific jury admonishment or curative instruction. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *See e.g.*, *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P. 3d 940 (2008); *Embry*, 171 Wn. App. at 741.

For this Court to review unpreserved constitutional error, the defendant must not only show that there was manifest error, but that he was actually prejudiced by it; i.e., that but for the error, the result would have been different. Here, the defendant has to show that Dr. Duralde's testimony was manifest constitutional error, and that this testimony, rather than that of the victim and other witnesses, the photographs on the defendant's computer, and the defendant's own statements and actions, resulted in the convictions.

As argued above, the testimony was not improper. That is why defense counsel did not object to it. The defense did not preserve the

"error" and cannot show manifest constitutional error resulting in actual prejudice. The Court should not review the issue.

- 2. THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING; NOR DID DEFENDANT OBJECT TO THE SECTIONS OF THE CLOSING TO WHICH HE NOW ASSIGNS ERROR.
 - a. <u>Prosecutorial misconduct in general</u>.

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). The appellant bears the burden of establishing the impropriety of the statements and their prejudicial effect. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). The prosecutor's improper statements are prejudicial only where there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

Failure by the defendant to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of that error unless the remark is deemed so "flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 719, citing *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 593-594, 888 P. 2d 570 (1995); *see also State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

The defendant has a duty to object to a prosecutor's allegedly improper argument. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). "If either counsel indulges in any improper remarks during closing argument, the other must interpose an objection at the time they are made. This is to give the court an opportunity to correct counsel, and to caution the jurors against being influenced by such remarks." *Id.*, at 761-762, quoting 13 Royce A. Ferguson, Jr., Washington Practice: Criminal Practice And Procedure § 4505, at 295 (3d ed. 2004). Objections are required not only to prevent counsel from making additional improper remarks, but also to prevent potential abuse of the appellate process. *Emery*, at 761-762.

The absence of a motion for mistrial at the time of the argument strongly suggests that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial. *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990). "Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal." *Id.*, quoting *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960).

Reviewing courts focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the

resulting prejudice could have been cured. "The criterion always is, has such a feeling of prejudice been engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a [defendant] from having a fair trial?" *Emery*, 174 Wn. 2d at 762.

b. The prosecutor did not comment on the defendant's right to confront his accuser.

Here, the prosecutor stated in closing:

Recall again Dr. Duralde's testimony that this kind of delayed disclosure by children of sexual abuse is common, that they wait until they feel safe, and again, look at what she's being asked to talk about. It's very hard for her to verbalize, for her to describe to you, for her to find the words. She didn't have the words to explain it, what he did to her. So when you're thinking about her testimony specifically, remember these things. She's being asked to talk about something that her stepfather did to her, sexually, in a strange and intimidating environment, from that stand, in front of all of you, other strangers who are present here in the courtroom, but also in front of the person who abused her.

9 RP 980-981.

It is not improper for a prosecutor to discuss the obvious difficulties that a witness faces when testifying in court. *See*, *State v*. *Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 808, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). In *Gregory*, the court rejected a similar argument that such argument chilled the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation. *Id.*, at 806-808. The court noted that a general discussion of the emotional cost of a victim's

testimony offered to support the victim's credibility has never been held to amount to an improper comment on the defendant's right to confrontation. *Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d at 808. The relevant issue is "whether the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on that right." *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 331, 804 P.2d 10 (1991).

In *Gregory*, as in the present case, the argument was not improper because it focused on the credibility of the victim, not on the defendant's exercise of his constitutional right to confrontation. The prosecutor pointed out that the victim had testified in public, before the jury and every other person who sat in the courtroom, including "other strangers." The prosecutor did not argue or imply that there was anything unjust or "wrong" with this process. The defendant was not singled out, he was mentioned as one of those in the courtroom. The defendant does not demonstrate that "the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on that right".

State v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993) is distinguishable. In Jones, the prosecutor expressly criticized the defendant's exercise of his right to confrontation, asking the defendant on cross-examination whether he was frustrated because his view of the victim was blocked during her testimony and commenting that the

defendant's direct eye contact with the victim resulted in the victim breaking down and crying.

c. The prosecutor did not argue facts not in evidence.

A prosecutor may not argue facts not in evidence. *See State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 555, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). However, a prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and to express such inferences to the jury.

State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 94–95, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).

Here, the prosecutor argued that:

And, again, remember Dr. Duralde explaining that this is typical of kids, to not be able to give specific dates, specific instances, particularly when they occurred over an extended period of time. They're bound to blend together, as they did for her. Instances that stood out did so because they were slightly different, like in the car, or the one time they did it in Aaron Michael's room. They were different. Even then she couldn't say exactly when it happened because it was in the context of this same thing happening over and over again.

9 RP 982.

The prosecutor was arguing a conclusion or an inference from Dr. Duralde's testimony:

[Prosecutor] Q. Okay. Thank you. In your experience, when you're in contact with children who are presenting with allegations of child sexual abuse, are they able to tell

you like specific dates and times, when abuse may have occurred?

[Dr. Duralde] A. Well, again, I'm not usually doing a forensic interview, so I'm not really asking those specific type of questions. But most kids can't. Most kids, you know, it's difficult, but I think that's true for most adults too, I don't know that that's that different, you know, and particularly, if something has occurred over a period of time, it certainly is harder to say, "Oh, it was this day" or "It was that day," and to sort of pinpoint it because sometimes it sort of blends together.

8 RP 794.

The prosecutor's argument was proper. In addition, the jury was properly instructed that:

The lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

Instruction 1, CP 137. So, even if one counsel or the other misstates the evidence, the jury disregards it as the ultimate finder of facts. In closing argument, both sides normally argue what the evidence means and how it supports their theory of the case or fails to support the other's. There was no misconduct or error here.

d. The defendant waived the issues regarding closing argument where he failed to object to them.

As argued above, in order to preserve the issue of prosecutorial misconduct in closing, the defendant is required to object and seek remedy in the trial court. *See Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 761. The defendant in the present case did not. Therefore, it is presumed that he saw nothing wrong with the argument, and has waived the issue on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d at 578.

3. THE STATE ADDUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALL ELEMEMNTS OF COUNT IV BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, INCLUDING KNOWLEDGE.

In determining whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction, "[t]he standard of review is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Rempel*, 114 Wn.2d 77, 82, 785 P.2d 1134 (1990). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable for purposes of drawing inferences. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

- 16 - Lee McClure brf. doc

The appellate court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, only that substantial evidence supports the State's case. *State v. Fiser*, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 995 P.2d 107 (2000). The reviewing court defers to the jury's decisions resolving conflicting testimony, evaluating witness credibility, and determining the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

Where a person is charged with possession of depictions of a minor under RCW 9.68A.070, among other elements, the State must prove that the defendant "knowingly" possessed the image(s). RCW 9.68A.070(1)(a); see also **State v. Grenning**, 142 Wn. App. 518, 174 P.3d 706 (2008).

Here, as in *Grenning*, there is no dispute that the images were found on the defendant's computer. 3 RP 166, 190, 202. The defendant had an unusual computer user name of "squide." 3 RP 217, 276, 8 RP 897. That user name was linked to the images depicting the victim. 3 RP 217. The defendant exercised control over the computer and the digital camera. 3 RP 283. The defendant controlled the passwords to the computer. 4 RP 327. Others had to ask permission to use the computer (4 RP 327) and the camera (4 RP 328, 8 RP 875).

Most significantly, the defendant was the one had the victim pose nude. 4 RP 433. The defendant took the nude photos of the victim's breasts and genitals. 4 RP 428, 433, 5 RP 520. He used the same digital camera found by police. 4 RP 405.

Also, flight is circumstantial evidence of guilty knowledge. *See*, *State v. McDaniel*, 155 Wn. App. 829, 853-854, 230 P.3d 245 (2010). For the same reasons, so is the destruction of evidence.

Here, the defendant fled immediately after he found out the victim refused to return to her mother's home. He told his wife he was running because of the potential allegations. He fled to Texas, then to Missouri. He told his son that he was running to escape the allegations. He tried to escape from the deputies escorting him back.

The defendant requested that his father "clean" the defendant's computer, deleting files and folders. 6 RP 714, 9 RP 926-927.

Significantly, the defendant requested that the photos be deleted. 9 RP 927.

By challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, the defendant admits all this evidence is true. *See Salinas*, *supra*. He likewise agrees to all reasonable inferences from this evidence. *Id*.

The jury could reasonably conclude that the defendant the defendant fled because he knew that the evidence of his actions, including

the photographs, would be discovered. Any doubt of his knowledge of the photographs evaporated when he directed his father to destroy the evidence. The evidence of the defendant's guilt of Count IV is truly overwhelming.

- 4. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED THE DEFENDANT TO LIFE IN PRISON AS A PERSISTENT OFFENDER.
 - a. The sentence did not violate Apprendi where it did not exceed the statutory maximum; life in prison.

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